FILED

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

PRISCILLA WILLIAMS,

Petitioner,

VS.

STATE DEPT. OF MANAGEMENT SERVICES, DIVISION OF RETIREMENT,

Respondent.

MAR 10 1995 CLERK, SUDRITUE COURT By ______

CASE NO. 85,041

PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF DECISION OF DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL FOR THE FIRST DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER PRISCILLA WILLIAMS

EDGAR LEE ELZIE, JR. 210 South Monroe St. Post Office Box 82 Tallahassee, Florida 32302 (904) 224-2600 Florida Bar Number 191876

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER PRISCILLA WILLIAMS

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

THE CASE

Pursuant to §120.57, Fla.Stat. (1991), and Fla. Admin. Code R. 28-5.111, Petitioner on the 15th day of May, 1991 filed with the Department of Administration, Division of Retirement, an Amended Petition for Formal Hearing appealing final agency action of the Division of Retirement, and served a copy of that Amended Petition by certified mail on the Chairman of the Board of County Commissioners, Gadsden County, and Nicholas Thomas, Clerk of Courts, Gadsden County (R-12). The Division of Retirement thereafter referred the matter to the Division of Administrative Hearings for formal hearing pursuant to Chapter 120, Fla. Stat. (1991). On March 30, 1992 the parties filed a Prehearing Stipulation in which they stipulated and agreed that the case be heard on the Stipulation and exhibits attached thereto (R-38). The Hearing Officer thereafter entered his Recommended Order on June 24, 1992 finding for Petitioner (R-111). In his Recommended Order the Hearing Officer made findings of fact, among others, that Petitioner was an employee of both the State of Florida and Gadsden County (R-114); that Petitioner was identified in the County's records as a salaried employee who filled a regularly established position (R-114), and that the burden of paying Petitioner's salary should be shared by the State and County (R-114). The Hearing Officer concluded as a matter of law that payments to Petitioner reported on a form 1099 rather than a form W-2 constituted compensation within the meaning of §121.021 (22) Fla. Stat. (1991) because the statute does not limit the reporting form to a W-2, and a 1099 is a "similar form" for reporting income (R-120). The Hearing Officer further concluded that payment for transcription did not constitute fees paid to professional persons for special or particular services "... because a court reporter is required by law to report and transcribe criminal proceedings, and it is illogical to characterize the transcribing of a criminal

proceeding as a special or particular service" while labeling the reporting of the identical proceeding as something else." (R-121); that Petitioner was filling a regularly established position with the County within the meaning of Fla. Admin. Code R. 22B-6.001 (49) (R-121); that the language of §121.021 (22) Fla. Stat. (1991) is plain and unambiguous; that the language does not differentiate between salary and fees, and that both salary and fees received by Petitioner while performing her duties as Official Court Reporter should have been used in calculating her retirement benefits (R-120).

No exceptions to the Recommended Order were filed by either party, and on September 21, 1992, the Division of Retirement entered its Final Order rejecting certain of the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law of the Hearing Officer and finding for the Division of Retirement (R-125). The Division rejected the Hearing Officers findings of fact that Petitioner was an employee of Gadsden County (R-132), that the County's records reflected that Petitioner filled a regularly established position with the County (R-132), and that payment of Petitioner's salary was an obligation shared by the County and the State (R-132). The Division then rejected various of the Hearing Officer's conclusions of law, and stated its own conclusion of law that the payments in question were not "compensation" within the meaning of §121.021 (22), Fla. Stat. (1991) (R-155).

Petitioner filed her Notice of Appeal on October 12, 1992 (R-172), and Amended Notice of Appeal on October 16, 1992 (R-174). On December 20, 1994, the First District Court of Appeal filed its Opinion affirming the decision of the Division of Retirement that transcription fees collected by Petitioner in criminal cases do not constitute compensation for the purpose of calculating retirement benefits. The District Court of Appeal in its Opinion determined that Petitioner was an employee of Gadsden County (1st DCA Opinion-14), but felt that it was not

illogical to treat transcription fees differently from appearance fees because it did not consider the preparation of transcripts to be a part of the compensation arrangement with the State and County, but rather to be payments made on behalf of third parties (1st DCA Opinion-17, 18). The District Court also opined that transcription is not an additional duty for the same employer and concluded that it therefore was unable to say that the agency's interpretation of §121.021 (22), Fla. Stat. (1991) was improper (1st DCA Opinion-18). The District Court of Appeal then certified the following question to be of great public importance:

WHETHER TRANSCRIPTION FEES COLLECTED BY COURT REPORTERS IN CRIMINAL CASES CONSTITUTE COMPENSATION FOR THE PURPOSE OF CALCULATING RETIREMENT BENEFITS PURSUANT TO THE FLORIDA RETIREMENT SYSTEM?

On December 20, 1994, Petitioner filed a Motion for Rehearing or Clarification which the First District Court of Appeal denied on January 13, 1995.

On January 20, 1995, Petitioner filed a Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction, and on January 24, 1995, this Court entered its Order Postponing Decision on Jurisdiction and Briefing Schedule.

THE FACTS

From January 1973 through February 1990 Petitioner was the Official Court Reporter in the Second Judicial Circuit of Florida for the Circuit and County Courts of Gadsden County, Florida (R-42, 114). During the time Petitioner served as an Official Court Reporter, she was furnished office space, furnishings, equipment, telephone, parking permit and insurance by Gadsden County and was identified in the records of Gadsden County as a salaried employee (R-42, 114). Petitioner was identified as an employee of Gadsden County in her Division of Retirement Personal History Record (R-46, 114) and her Loyalty Oath (R-48, 114), and was certified as such by the Board of Commissioner of Gadsden County in her Florida Retirement System Application for Service Retirement (R-50, 114). Florida Retirement System form FR-11, certified by the Chief Judge of the Second Judicial Circuit, identified Petitioner's last employers as the State of Florida, Office of State Courts Administrator, <u>and</u> the Board of County Commissioners, Gadsden County, Florida (R-51). These documents also establish that Petitioner's position with Gadsden County was an employment position that was in existence for a period beyond six consecutive months (R-46, 50, 114). While serving as Official Court Reporter, Petitioner received payments from salary accounts pursuant to §29.04, Fla. Stat. (1991), which provides for payment of official court reporters by both the state and county (R-43, 114). These payments were reflected in Petitioner's wage and tax withholding statements (W-2's) received from the state and county (R-43, 114).

In calculating Petitioner's retirement benefits, the Division used only the payments reflected in these W-2's (R-43, 44, 114). In addition to the foregoing payments, during the period between January 1973 and February 1990, Petitioner received payments from the county for services enumerated in §29.03 and §29.05, Fla. Stat. (1991). These services were personally rendered by her as an official court reporter and included the preparation of transcripts of criminal proceedings at the demand of the presiding judge, state attorney or public defender (R-14, 43, 115). The amount of compensation received and the month in which such compensation was paid are set forth on pages 4-8 of the Amended Petition, and range from nothing in some months to as much as \$7,152.00 in October 1984 (R-15-19, 44, 115). These payments were reported to the Internal Revenue Service on Forms 1099 issued by the County and were not included by the Division in its calculation of Petitioner's retirement benefits (R-44, 115).

In administering the Florida Retirement System the Division has included as either "salary" or "compensation" those fees set by statute only where such fees have been the sole source of the salary or compensation of the officer or employee during any given period of time. In other words, the Division will treat as compensation the fixed monthly salary of an employee <u>or</u> the total cash remuneration from fees set by statute, but not both. Under this practice, then, payments to Petitioner pursuant to §29.04, Fla. Stat. (1991) were treated as compensation for retirement purposes, while the payments for transcribing criminal proceedings pursuant to §29.03 and §29.05 Fla. Stat. (1991) were not. (R-44, 115, 115).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Petitioner is entitled to have the monies she received from Gadsden County pursuant to §29.03 and §29.05, Fla. Stat. (1991) included in her compensation for purposed of calculating retirement on several grounds.

First, payments for the transcription services provided by Petitioner in indigent criminal cases were made pursuant to the same Chapter of Florida Statutes which provided for her compensation for appearances, were a part of Petitioner's compensation arrangement with the State and County, and were not payments made on behalf of third parties. Refusal to include compensation paid by the County to Petitioner for preparation of transcripts in criminal cases of indigent defendants for the purpose of calculating retirement benefits pursuant to the Florida Retirement System is a violation of Petitioner's right to equal protection under Article I, Section 2, Fla. Const.

Second, because services provided to Gadsden County by Petitioner pursuant to §29.03 and §29.05, Fla. Stat. (1991), constituted additional duties performed by a member filling a regularly established position under Fla. Admin. Code R. 22B-1.004 (4) (c), Petitioner was filling a regularly established position for all payments she received for all employment from Gadsden County, regardless of whether such payments resulted from fees set by statute or not, and all such compensation should be considered in calculating retirement benefits.

Third, §121.021 (22), Fla. Stat. (1991), defines compensation as a monthly salary paid to a member, without respect to whether the compensation is derived from fees set by statute or not. Because monies received by Petitioner described in her Amended Petition were paid by Gadsden County for her services pursuant to Chapter 29, Fla. Stat. (1991) and reported by Gadsden

County on a form similar to a W-2, it constituted compensation regardless of whether it was derived from fees set by the statute.

Fourth, §122.021 (22), Fla. Stat. (1991), states that when a member's compensation is derived from fees set by statute, compensation should be the total cash remuneration received from such fees, and Fla. Admin. Code R. 22B-6.001 (16), provides that compensation includes cash remuneration received for fees set by statute. In this case, all of Petitioner's compensation as described in her Amended Petition was received for fees set by statute and should be included in calculating her compensation for retirement purposes.

Fifth, although §122.021 (22), Fla. Stat. (1991), excludes from the definition of compensation fees paid a professional person for special or particular services, a court reporter is not a "professional person" and the preparation of transcripts is not a special or particular service.

ARGUMENT

I. INTRODUCTION

The duties and provisions for compensation of an Official Court Reporter are set forth in

§29.02, §29.04(1), and §29.05 Fla. Stat. (1991), which provide as follows:

§29.02, Fla. Stat. (1991), Duties of Court Reporter. - The Official Court Reporter shall, upon the request of a presiding Judge, or that of the State Attorney or Defendant, report the testimony and proceedings with objections made, the ruling of the Court, the exceptions taken, and oral or written charges of the Court in the trial of any criminal case in the Circuit Court, and the testimony in any preliminary hearing when so requested by the Circuit Judge or State Attorney of that Circuit, and shall report the testimony and proceeding with objections made, the rulings of the Court, the exceptions taken, and oral or written charges of the Court in the trial of any civil case in said Court upon the demand or request of the Attorney for either party.

§29.04(1), Fla. Stat., Each Official Court Reporter shall receive an annual salary of \$5,400.00, unless otherwise provided for in the Appropriations Act, payable in 12 equal monthly installments by the Treasurer upon requisition of such Court Reporter. The Reporter, when in attendance upon the trial of any cause in any County or Circuit shall be reimbursed for traveling expenses as provided in §112.061, Fla. Stat. The Reporter shall at all times be subject to the call and order of the Circuit Judge to perform any service required by this Chapter. No Reporter shall report for more than one Judicial Circuit except in cases in which the Reporter of a Circuit is incapacitated.

§29.05, Fla. Stat., Transcripts in criminal cases. - Upon the demand of the State Attorney or the presiding Judge in any criminal case or the Defendant within the time allowed for taking an appeal in a criminal case, such Reporters shall furnish with reasonable diligence a type written transcript of the testimony and proceedings, together with the charges of the Court, and shall receive therefore the same fees for such transcripts as provided §29.03, Fla. Stat., and the costs for same shall be taxed as costs in the case.

Compensation of Court Reporters is also addressed in §29.03, Fla. Stat. (1991), as well as

by the Rules of Judicial Administration and Administrative Orders of the Second Judicial Circuit.

Simply put, it is the position of Petitioner that all payments she received pursuant to Chapter 29, Fla. Stat. (1991), including those received pursuant to §29.03 and §29.05, Fla. Stat. (1991), are compensation within the meaning of the Florida Retirement System Act. It is the position of the Respondent that only payments received by Petitioner for services performed pursuant to §29.04 are compensation for purposes of calculating retirement benefits.

The Florida Retirement System Act, in §121.021(22), Fla. Stat. (1991), provides the following definition of compensation:

(22) "Compensation" means the monthly salary paid a member, including overtime payments paid from a salary fund, as reported by the employer on the wage and tax statement "Internal Revenue Service Form W-2" or similar form. When a members compensation is derived from fees set by statute, compensation shall be the total cash remuneration received from such fees. Under no circumstances shall compensation include fees paid professional persons for special or particular services.

In applying the provisions of the Florida Retirement System Act, they should be liberally

construed in favor of Petitioner. As stated by the Fourth District Court Appeal in City of West

Palm Beach v. Holaday, 234 So.2d 24, at 26 (Fla. 4th DCA, 1970):

The construction that we have afforded to the pension plan is in keeping with a long established principle liberally construing pension laws. <u>State ex rel. Holten v. Tampa</u>, 1934, 119, Fla. 556, 159 So. 292, 98 A.L.R. 501. We can think of no area where there is a stronger need to shield those who have given devoted service. The desire for security during the declining years is an important concern to every working person. The feeling of knowing that those later years one will be able to afford himself and his family with the necessities of life should not be likely taken away, for many are induced to remain in employment which is hazardous or low paying and to make such employment a career rather than a passing interlude on the basis that a secure future will be provided via a pension plan.

Those issues which appear to be the basis for the Opinion of the First District Court of

Appeal are discussed in paragraphs II - IV; other issues are discussed in subsequent paragraphs.

П.

TRANSCRIPTION BY PETITIONER OF TRANSCRIPTS FOR INDIGENT CRIMINAL DEFENDANTS IS A PART OF THE COMPENSATION ARRANGEMENT WITH THE STATE AND COUNTY AND PAYMENTS FOR SUCH TRANSCRIPTS DO NOT CONSTITUTE PAYMENTS MADE ON BEHALF OF A THIRD PARTY FOR PROFESSIONAL SERVICES.

§29.05, Fla. Stat. (1991), provides as follows:

§29.05, Fla. Stat., Transcripts in criminal cases. - Upon the <u>demand</u> of the State Attorney, or the presiding Judge in any criminal case, or the Defendant within the time allowed for taking an appeal and for the purpose of taking a appeal in a criminal case, such reporters <u>shall furnish</u> with reasonable diligence a type written transcript of the testimony and proceedings, together with the charges of the Court, and shall receive therefore the same fees for such transcript as provided in §29.03, Fla. Stat., and the costs for the same shall be taxed as costs in the case. (emphasis applied)

It is clear from the wording of the statute that the provision of transcripts is not a duty

which the court reporter may elect to perform or not to perform, nor is it a duty, the compensation for which, the court reporter may negotiate with the indigent defendant. The court reporter does not contract with the indigent defendant and then bill the County for the transcript; she is required by law to prepare the transcript, and the County is required to pay for it.

As agreed in the Prehearing Stipulation, both the monies Petitioner received from the Board of County Commissioners of Gadsden County reflected by W-2's and the monies she received from Gadsden County reflected by 1099's were received for services enumerated in Chapter 29, Fla. Stat. (1991), and personally rendered by her as Official Court Reporter pursuant to Chapter 29, Fla. Stat. (1991). There is no reasonable basis for differentiating between the compensation she received pursuant to one section of Chapter 29, Fla. Stat. (1991), and that she received pursuant to another section. As stated by the Hearing Officer, "... A court reporter is required by law to report and transcribe criminal proceedings, and it is illogical to characterize the transcribing of a criminal proceeding as a 'special or particular service' while labeling the reporting of the identical proceeding as something else" (R121). Nor is there a question as to whether the County was responsible for payment of such fees. See Op. Att'y Gen. Fla. 58-50 (February 14, 1958), 68-66 (May 20, 1964), and 75-4 (May 8, 1970), which opine that the compensation for which Court Reporters are entitled for taking testimony before a grand jury, furnishing a transcript of that testimony when requested to do so by an authorized Official, reporting arguments of counsel in criminal cases, and furnishing transcripts of proceedings in criminal cases, are expenses to be borne by the County.

It is not reasonable to exclude payment for the transcript from compensation for purposes of calculating retirement on the basis that the transcript is a benefit to an indigent defendant. Public Defenders are required to represent indigent defendants when appointed by the Court; their work is for the benefit of a third party (the indigent defendant), and they are paid by the State. Court reporters are required to prepare transcripts for indigent defendants when ordered by Court; their work is of benefit to a third party (the indigent defendant), and they are paid by the County. There is no rational basis for including payments made to Public Defenders for representing indigent defendants as compensation for purposes of retirement and for excluding payments made to court reporters for preparing transcripts for use by criminal defendants from compensation for purposes of retirement. Many other state and county employees, such as those in the health care field, provide services for the benefit of third parties. The fact that these State

or County employees provide services for third parties does not result in their remuneration being excluded from compensation for the purpose of calculating retirement benefits.

Equal protection under Article I, Section 2, of the Fla. Const., requires that there be some rational basis for applying a statute or rule in such away as to affect similarly situated persons differently. There is no rational basis for including compensation paid to Public Defenders and other public employees who provide services to indigent parties in calculations of retirement benefits, and excluding compensation paid to Petitioner from inclusion in calculation of retirement benefits on the basis that her services are for the benefit an indigent person. Petitioner's services, including preparation of transcripts were rendered for the benefit of the system of criminal justice of the State of Florida pursuant to the requirement of law and compensation for those services should be included in calculation of retirement benefits.

III.

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