IN THE SUPREME COURT, STATE OF FLORIDA

PRISCILLA WILLIAMS,

Petitioner,

vs.

. .

Case No. 85,041

STATE OF FLORIDA, DEPARTMENT OF MANAGEMENT SERVICES, DIVISION OF RETIREMENT,

Respondent,

FILED SID J. WHITE

MAY 8 1995

CLERK SUPPEME COURT Chief Deputy Clark

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF THE FIRST DISTRICT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

STANLEY M. DANEK Division Attorney DIVISION OF RETIREMENT Cedars Executive Center Building C 2639 North Monroe Street Tallahassee, Florida 32399 (904) 487-1230

Attorney for Respondent Florida Bar No. 179868

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Petitioner was a former official court reporter for the Second Judicial Circuit who was subject to be assigned to any circuit or county court within that judicial circuit. Under the provisions of Section 29.04(1), Florida Statutes, she was a statutory employee of the State, receiving a "salary" of \$5,400 per year for providing court reporting services within the judicial circuit. Section 29.04)3), Florida Statutes, permits the County to pay supplemental funds necessary to pay the cost of reporting in criminal proceedings to provide for competent reporters in legal proceedings. Those two sections, read in para materia, hold that the reporter is a state employee and not a county employee since the county can pay "costs" or "fees" but not "salaries". The fees paid to Ms. Williams, if paid as part of her salary, were wrongly paid and contrary to the clear and unambiguous wording of the law.

The County was required under Section 939.15, Florida Statutes, to pay the "costs allowed by law" in a criminal appeal for any defendant who has been adjudged insolvent, or where the defendant has been discharged or the judgment reversed. The law was a policy decision made by the Legislature to protect the federal constitutional rights of defendants. Therefore, it is the law and not any contractual relationship with the State or the County that required the County pay the reporter costs to Petitioner in criminal matters.

When we realize that the County was required by statute to pay the costs, it becomes unreasonable to mix the terms "costs" and "salaries" as if the two were interchangeable. The very use of the two different terms in Chapter 29, Florida Statutes, signifies that the Legislature meant them to be different in substance. If it had wanted to include the transcript fees as part of the reporters salary, it could have easily done so by a few changes in wording. However, it did not do that, indicating that it meant exactly what it said - salary was to be paid by the State and costs by the County.

Petitioner then raises a constitutional issue where no such issue was raised in the proceeding below nor was a constitutional issue raised before the District Court. Regardless of the merits of her argument, she has waived her right to argue that issue at this point in the proceeding.

Petitioner then claims that retirement laws should be liberally construed to permit her to have the benefit. The position of the Division, is the the law should be followed, even in her case. When the Division has a decision to make on a member's retirement account where the equities in the case are about evenly balanced, then that decision should be tilted in favor of the member. That, however, is not the same as granting benefits without reviewing the law, the rules and case law.

The Division is seeking give Ms. Williams that which she is entitled to under the law applying the statute to the facts of her case. Petitioner worked as an official court reporter for more than 17 years. From March 1985, until February 28, 1990, she made a total of \$94,840.95 in extra fees. Her average final compensation or average of the high five years of compensation <u>if</u> she is successful in this claim, will increase by \$18,968.19, giving her a total of AFC of \$24,368.19 (\$5,400 plus \$18,968.19). The additional retirement benefit amounts to an unjust enrichment of Petitioner.

-5-

In the Recommended Order, the Hearing Officer stated that Petitioner was in a "regularly established" position by virtue of have been in a temporary employment position for six (6) months. In the rule in existence at that time of her retirement, <u>temporary</u> employees of local agencies were not eligible for FRS membership. However, if a temporary employee was in such a position in excess of four (4) (not six (6) months), that person was considered to be filling a regularly established position and therefore a <u>compulsory member</u> of FRS. However, Ms. Williams was never a temporary employee of the County for any period of time and so the rule did not apply to her.

Since she never was regular employee of the County by operation of the above rules, then she could not have performed "additional duties for the same employer". That provision is inapplicable in this case

While a person can certainly be a regular employee of a local agency independent of the above rules, there was no evidence that she was an employee hired under the normal methods of applications, interviews, etc. There was no application for employment introduced into evidence, no evidence that Ms. Williams was eligible for the standard benefits given all County employees such as life insurance, health insurance, etc., and little evidence that she was an employee at all. In short, she was supposed to be a County employee but only <u>for retirement purposes</u>.

Petitioner was paid the extra fees on Internal Revenue Service Form 1099, a form used to pay non-salary compensation, interest, and miscellaneous income. The form is not "a similar form" to the W-2 form. It has a different use. The term "a similar form" is used for a form that may be adopted by IRS at a

-6-

future date to enable the Division to retain the qualified tax status of the FRS under Section 401(a), Internal Revenue Code.

In Section 121.021(22), Florida Statutes (1991), the Division has treated the first and second sentences as separate and distinct from each other. The first sentence deals with salary for a person who receives all of his compensation by salary while the second sentence applies to a person who receives <u>all of</u> <u>his compensation</u> from the fees of the office. It originally applied only to the old fee officers who derived their "compensation" from the fees collected by their office.

To the knowledge of the Division, there have been no "fee officers" since 1973. The above language comes from a former retirement system which included fees obtained by a fee officer as salary. Petitioner argues that the Division should have held a full evidentiary to develop all of the issues and the underlying The Prehearing Information Sheet, the Recommended Order facts. and the Final Order developed the issues and the facts of the If the purpose of an administrative proceeding is to case. develop the facts and the issues, then a hearing would have produced nothing that is not now before the Court right now or that was before the District Court. The issue that the fees were set by statute vs. judicial rule is fully developed by the Parties. Since the Hearing Officer touched on it only briefly, the Division was free to determine that the fees were paid by judicial rule.

The law states that the reporter will be paid a "salary" for her appearance. The transcription of trials, etc., are not covered in the salary provision and are therefore "special or particular services" as found by the District Court in it opinion.

-7-

NOTE: Since the Division is omitting the Introduction as found in Petitioner's Initial Brief, we are beginning the numbering of the Points of Argument with Argument II to agree with the numbering of the points in the Initial Brief.

ARGUMENT II

TRANSCRIPTION BY PETITIONER OF TRANSCRIPTS FOR INDIGENT CRIMINAL DEFENDANTS IS A PART OF THE COMPENSATION ARRANGEMENT WITH THE STATE AND COUNTY, AND PAYMENTS FOR SUCH TRANSACTIONS DO NOT CONSTITUTE PAYMENTS MADE ON BEHALF OF THE THIRD PARTY FOR PROFESSIONAL SERVICES.

A significant part of this case and the ultimate decision that this court must make involves Sections 29.02, 29.03, 29.04 and 29.05, Florida Statutes, (1991) which state in part as follows:

- S. 29.02; Duties of court reporter The official court reporter shall, upon the request of the presiding judge, or that of the state attorney or defendant, report the testimony and proceedings with objections made, the rulings of the court, the exceptions taken, and oral or written charges of the court in the trial of any criminal case in the circuit court, and the testimony in any preliminary hearing when so requested by the circuit judge or state attorney of that circuit and shall report the testimony and proceedings with objections made, the rulings of the court, the exceptions taken, and oral or written charges of the court in the testimony and proceedings with objections made, the rulings of the court, the exceptions taken, and oral or written charges of the court in the trial of any civil case in said court upon the demand or request of the attorney for either party.
- •
- S. 29.03; Compensation for services The official circuit court reporter shall be entitled to receive for each day or fraction of a day in which such reporter shall be engaged in reporting testimony and proceedings in any civil case not less than \$10 a day, nor less than \$10 in any one case, for each day or fraction of a day in which such reporter shall be engaged; and said reporter shall also, when ordered by either party in a criminal case or by the presiding judge report the arguments of counsel arguing the facts to the jury, and shall receive as compensation thereof

not less that \$10 for reporting each such argument. . . . Such reporter shall receive the same fees as provided in this section when rendering similar service in criminal or other courts of this state. . .

- S.29.04; Salaries, expenses, etc., of official circuit court reporters.-
- (1) Each official circuit court reporter shall receive an annual salary of \$5,400, unless otherwise provided for in the appropriations act, payable in 12 equal monthly installments by the Treasurer upon requisition of such court The reporter, when in attendance upon reporter. the trial of any cause in any county in his circuit, shall be reimbursed for travel expenses as provided in s. 112.061. The reporter shall at all times be subject to the call and order of the circuit judge to perform any service required by this chapter. No reporter shall report for more than one judicial circuit except in cases in which the reporter of a circuit is incapacitated.
- (2) . . .
- (3) The funds necessary to pay the cost of reporting in criminal proceedings shall be supplemented by the respective counties as necessary to provide competent reporters in such proceedings.
- **S.29.05;** Transcripts in criminal cases Upon the demand of the state attorney, or the residing judge in any criminal cases, or the defendant within the time allowed for taking an appeal and for the purpose of taking an appeal in a criminal case, such reporter shall furnish with reasonable diligence a typewritten transcript of the testimony and proceedings, together with the charges of the court, and shall receive therefor the same fees for such transcript as provided in s. 29.03, and the costs for same shall be taxed as costs in the case.

There are several points of law that are obvious in the above sections. First, the official court reporter doesn't have to do anything to earn the salary provided for in Section 29.04(1), Florida Statutes. The reporter must appear at the trials, depositions, hearings, etc., to earn the salary. The salary basically comes with the appointment. It can be likened to

-9-

a statutory "appearance fee". In the Op. Att'y Gen. Fla. 72-39 (1973), it was stated in part that:

settled that an official It appears court reporter's salary is intended to compensate him for all routine attendance at and reporting of trials in connection with the enforcement of the criminal laws of this state. As noted in AGO 064-144, the official court reporter is entitled to compensation in addition to his salary only when reporting arguments of counsel in a criminal of course, or, for transcribing the case proceedings reported by him. Accord: Attorney General Opinion 070-45. His fees for reporting the argument and preparing a transcript and copies of the proceedings for use in the trial of the cause are chargeable as costs in the proceedings to be paid by the defendant if he is convicted and solvent, or by the county if he is discharged or insolvent. (citation omitted)

However, apart from the salary paid to the official court reporter, the law allows the charging of fees for his or her service and for providing transcripts. In order to earn the "fees", the reporter must <u>actually report</u> the several types of trials and/or hearings as appropriate. Then, payment for the time and the transcript will be made as discussed infra.

Second, the official court reporter is paid the salary by the <u>State Treasurer</u> upon the submission of the requisition for each month. Based on the clear wording of the law, there is <u>no</u> <u>authority in the law</u> for the County to pay a salary to the Petitioner or any other official court reporter. See AGO 064-144. In a situation where the law mentions one thing, it is the implication that another thing is excluded. The court may apply the principle of espressio unius est exclusion alterius as stated in <u>Thayer etc. vs. State, etc.</u>, 335 So2d 815 (Fla 1976) to hold that the law, by providing for payment on salary by the State Treasurer, excludes payment of <u>any salary</u> by the County. If Gadsden County paid any part of the salary of \$5,400 to the Petitioner, it was obviously <u>not authorized</u> and had <u>no power</u> to do so.

Under the provisions of Section 29.03, above, and the Rule 2.070, Rules of Judicial Administration, an official court reporter is an employee of the State of Florida. Regardless of what documents may have been generated between the Petitioner and Gadsden County, her employment as an official court reporter was <u>dependent wholly</u> upon her appointment and retention by the State judiciary. Under no provision of Florida law, are official court reporters of the State deemed to be county employees for any purpose whatsoever.

An official court reporter is an employee of the State under Section 29.01, Florida Statutes, above, as a matter of law. Therefore, regardless as to whatever evidence may have been presented as to the dealings between the Petitioner and Gadsden County, no finding could be made that such a reporter of the State of Florida is a county employee. This is not a case whereby the dealings between private parties is determinative as to whether or not an employer-employee relationship has been created. See <u>Cantor v. Cochran</u>, 184 So.2d 173 (Fla. 1966).

Petitioner argues that the forms introduced into evidence, the M-10 (Personal History Forms), the loyalty oath and the FR-11, Application for Retirement, somehow prove she was a County employee. As is argued elsewhere in this Brief, the M-10 form filed by the County probably was not noticed by the Division in 1973 because we also received an M-10 form the the State courts system. As to the loyalty oath, that is an internal form only with no distribution outside of the agency. Certainly, it was not

-11-

provided to the Division. As to the Form FR-11, the form is unaudited by the Division and as such it is not accepted as accurate, correct and truth until it is audited. Statements made on the form can be disputed and often are disputed by the Division as part of a pre-audit and post-audit process. Further, she 1) acknowledged that she signed the form 2) for the purposes of applying for retirement. She did not swear to the accuracy of the statement on the form.

A part of Petitioner's argument seems to be that under Section 29.03(3), Florida Statutes, the County is authorized furnish "funds necessary to pay the cost of reporting in criminal proceedings" as a supplemental source of money. This, however, does not seem to cover salaries but does seem to cover "costs", The costs would be those mentioned in Section just as it says. 29.03, Florida Statutes, above, in which the Legislature has mandated that the counties shall pay the supplemental funds necessary to pay the cost of court reporting in criminal proceedings as necessary to provide competent reporters in such proceedings. There is nothing in the law and no reason to believe employer-employee provision alters the of law that the relationship between the State and its official court reporters, but rather provides an additional funding source from the counties to pay the cost of court reporting in criminal cases.

By judicial rule, the Supreme Court has addressed the area of compensation of the official court reports. In Rule 2.070(g), Rules of Judicial Administration, it states in part as follows:

> Compensation. Each official court reporter shall on a monthly basis certify to the chief judge of the circuit to which the reporter is appointed the number of hours' service of the reporter and -12

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